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A popular myth in modem America is that the Boone and Crockett Club was created solely to score the big-game trophies of North America and to maintain these records, and today that remains its single purpose. This misconception comes from the fact that the Boone and Crockett Club’s most visible, consumer “product” for the last 40 years has been its copyrighted score charts used to measure 35 separate categories of North American big game, and the publication of its Records of North American Big Game published in 1952, 1958, 1964. 1971, 1977, 1981, 1988 and 1993; the precursor 1932 and 1939 editions, which used different formulae for scoring heads and horns, were prior to the formal adoption of the uniform measurement standards in 1950 that remain relatively intact today. Twenty-one public big-game trophy Competitions and Awards Programs recognizing the top trophies have reinforced this myth of B&C’s singular purpose. Other organizations, with written permission of the Club, have published their records books, utilizing the measurement system established and officially copyrighted by the Boone and Crockett Club in 1950. Hence, the myth that B&C is solely the keeper of the big-game records is perpetuated with the publication of each new edition of its Records of North American Big Game and its progeny, and each Awards Program.

THE BEGINNING: 1887

The Boone and Crockett Club was founded in 1887. It was 65 years old when it formally published the uniform measurement system in 1952, used today to score North American big-game trophies. The Club was organized by Theodore Roosevelt, George Bird Grinnell and others in 1887 solely to establish and maintain a unified wildlife and natural resources conservation program on a national basis in America, and hence became the oldest wildlife conservation organization in this country. Its record of achievement in the American conservation movement during the Club’s first 65 years and thereafter is legendary, even by today’s standards.

The Boone and Crockett Club was organized as an association of sportsmen, primarily hunting riflemen, with five purposes and objectives pursuant to Article II of the 1887 Constitution: (1) “To promote manly sport with the rifle; (2) To promote travel and exploration in the wild and unknown, or but partially known, portions of the country; (3) To work for the preservation of the large game of this country, and, so far as possible, to further legislation for that purpose. and to assist in enforcing the existing laws; (4) To promote inquiry into, and to record observations on. the habits and natural history of the various wild animals; (5) To bring about among the members the interchange of opinions and ideas on hunting, travel, and exploration; on the various kinds of hunting rifles; on the haunts of game animals, etc.” The last three purposes mark the Club’s primary focus and achievements during its 106 years of existence. True to its founding purposes, today’s Boone and Crockett Club continues to maintain a unique pro-active role in wildlife and natural resources conservation research, education, demonstration and the advocation of hunting ethics, in addition to its records-keeping role, the later activity comprising a limited portion of the Club’s focus and attention.
The manifest destiny to dominate and control the continent, assumed by early settlers as they pushed back the new frontier from the Adirondacks across the West to the Pacific, exploited America’s wilderness at the expense of its natural resources without regard for the future. Early diaries report of the buffalo tides covering the prairies. An 1871 herd contained an estimated 4 million head alone, 50 miles wide and 20 miles deep. Another report by early 3&C member Gen. George S. Anderson (then a 2nd Lt. of the 6th Cavalry) records a “living tide” that took Anderson’s cavalry unit six days to pass through, the last three days the herd remained in constant motion across their path. By the late 1880s, the buffalo were reduced to virtual extinction by commercial market hunters, killing for meat or hides and tongues alone and leaving the carcasses to rot in the prairie sun. John J. Audubon’s 1813 diary reports a flight of passenger pigeons eclipsing the sun passing over him during an entire 55-mile trip; the flight continued for two more days. Commercial market hunters brought the passenger pigeon to extinction in 1914, joining the ranks of the heath hen, Carolina parakeet, Audubon’s bighorn sheep and Merriam elk. Tree skinners stripped virgin pines from the hills of New England, across the Midwest, and hacked their way to the Pacific Coast’s ponderosa pines and redwoods, some more than 300 feet high and 15 feet in diameter. The timber merchants left clearcuts and barren hills that eroded watersheds and ruined rivers and streams—pure since the ice age. Grinnell’s 1875 diary reports the fragile Yellowstone Valley, which was pillaged by meat hunters and timber thieves, also became a souvenir collector’s delight. Geyserites were cut up and carted off by the wagon loads, while tourists plugged up the geysers with their garbage.

The decline of the Indian cultures and the bison were the first noticeable victims of this exploitation as westward settlement and the railroads brought Armageddon to each. This rapacious exploitation included wanton commercial hunting, hunting to “protect” habitat from domestic livestock, overgrazing, clearcutting and cultivation without rotation, thus exhausting shallow topsoils, etc. Declining big-game populations and the loss of the mythical and romantic qualities of the Western frontier associated with big-game hunting, and the lack of intelligent land use and management practices were the singular forces unifying Theodore Roosevelt, Grinnell and 22 other visionaries—sportsmen, scientists, military and political leaders, explorers, artists, writers and industrialists—to organize the Boone and Crockett Club in 1887 to forge solutions to reverse the wanton destruction of America’s wildlife and other natural resources. In 1887, a national conscience and awareness of this destruction did not exist.

The 19th century expansion of America reduced the buffalo population from an estimated 40 million to a few scattered remnant herds within a period of that century’s last 30 years. The destruction of this seemingly inexhaustible resource became a dramatic symbol of the myth of the inexhaustibility of our natural resources. Yellowstone National Park, created in 1872, had only an estimated 200 buffalo left in 1 895—later reduced to 21 by 1905; the park existed in name only, its borders, use and purpose were ill-defined or non-existent The concepts of forest reserves, wildlife refuges, national parks, uniform laws regulating big-game hunting, fishing and migratory birds, dams and reservoirs to redistribute water for habitat enhancement and reclamation, and the development of a philosophy of land stewardship of natural resource and wildlife management, together with a cadre of professionals to manage these resources, were yet to be formulated. The Boone and Crockett Club and its members became the catalyst for the development and implementation of these concepts and the establishment of a national awareness of the pillaging of American’s limited natural resources.

THE NATIONAL PARK SYSTEM

Enlargement and protection of Yellowstone National Park was the Boone and Crockett Club’s first project. In 1891. key members of the Club, US. senators. attorneys and cabinet members secured congressional enactment of the Timberland Reserve Bill, which added 1 million acres to Yellowstone, followed by the 1894 Yellowstone Park Protection Act that added 3,344 square miles to the park (making it a total of 5,600 square miles). and established laws enforced by armed protection against poaching, timber harvesting, mineral extraction, defacing of geysers and rock formations, etc. This law became a model for laws and policies followed by the National Park Service after its inception in 1916. The first director of the National Park Service to implement these policies was B&C member Stephen T. Mather, followed by Club member Horace M. Albright in 1929.

The crusade to preserve Yellowstone was a seminal point in America’s early conservation movement. It was the first time a natural resource issue secured the popular support of the American public, both sportsmen and non-sportsmen, from which the concept of conservation gained currency and the need for concerted national action. As historian John F. Reiger observed, Yellowstone became the “birthplace” of America’s national park system, and the “cradle” of the national forest system and its timber reserves and its wildlife refuges. It provided a system of administrative government to effectively manage them, thus providing sustained multiple use for all the people. The Yellowstone experience became both the paradigm and platform for the Boone and Crockett Club’s role on a national scale in natural resource and wildlife conservation initiatives and issues. Local sportsmen’s clubs existed throughout the East pre-dating the Civil War, and focused on parochial agendas and issues. The Boone and Crockett Club, however, became the first private organization to deal with conservation issues on a national scale, uniting a membership of the country’s most important leaders who collectively forged the national conservation movement and conscience of the American public. These early leaders included Roosevelt, Grinnell, Madison Grant, William Austin Wadsworth. Gifford Pinchot, Henry Fairfield Osborn, George Shiras III, Arnold Hague, C. Grant La Farge, and Sens. George G. Vest and John F. Lacey.

The preservation of Yellowstone led the Boone and Crockett Club’s Raphael Pumpilly, Grinnell and Pinchot to chart and map the Flathead Forest Preserve in 1896, which in 1910 became Glacier National Park through the efforts of Sen. Thomas H. Carter of Montana, also a Club member. During this same period, Club member Frank Oliver, Canada’s Minister of Interior, guided the Dominion of Canada in establishing the Waterton Lakes Forest Park as a timber and wildlife reserve bordering Glacier on the north. Subsequent enlargement of the reserve in Canada’s 1906 Forest Reserve Act created the Rocky Mountain Park and the Jasper Forest Park, all engineered by Oliver. These combined reserves, running for 410 miles north of Glacier National Park following the crest of the main range of the Rocky Mountains. protected an additional 16,000 square miles.

In the Club’s next decade. member Charles Sheldon, a naturalist and explorer, alerted the cub’s Executive Committee to the need to protect the area surrounding Mt. McKinley (now known as Denali) after spending a year alone exploring and mapping its critical borders of 2,000 square miles. After a concerted political effort, all coordinated by the Boone and Crockett Club, Sheldon’s research, intelligence reports and public campaign led Congress to pass the Mt. McKinley National Park Act of 1917. When Roosevelt became president in 1901. five national parks existed. During his administration (190 l —1909). five more were created, with much of the legislation being researched, drafted and engineered through Congress by key members of the Club, many of whom served in Roosevelt’s cabinet and sub-cabinet positions. Roosevelt also designated 18 national monuments, many of which have since become national parks like the Grand Canyon.

Yellowstone and subsequent national parks, together with an effective administrative system of government to manage their resources, were only part of the foundation laid by the Boone and Crockett Club. Other components of America’s new conservation program were timber reserves, a national forest system, game refuges and laws regulating hunting and fishing. As Grinnell succinctly said: “No woods, no game; no woods, no water; and no water. no fish.” The survival of each resource was integrally linked together. Effective management of one required the effective management of all to insure they lasted indefinitely.

THE NATIONAL FOREST SYSTEM

The 1891 Timberland Reserve Bill, which initially enlarged Yellowstone, set aside 13 million acres of America’s first timber reserves from which the national forest system was born. To secure passage of the Timberland Reserve Bill (1891), Club members William Hallet Phillips and Secretaries of the Interior Lucius Q.C. Lamar and Jon W. Noble, and Hague of the US. Geological Survey, joined together to influence a small nucleus of congressmen on the issues of forest protection. Noble, prompted by Hague’s input, got Section 24 written by Phillips added to the 1891 bill that provided for forest reserves. Noble then persuaded President Harrison to sign the bill and set aside the first reserves, including the Yellowstone Reserve. From these singular and collective efforts, the national forest system was born. Club members Noble and Hague alone defined the size and shape of 13 million acres of forest reserve. The 1897 Civil Service Appropriation Act, introduced by B&C member Congressman Lacey, and engineered by the Club through Congress, gave the forest reserves additional protection. The concept of sustained productivity of forests for multiple use—wildlife habitat, timber production, watershed protection and mineral extraction—Was adopted as a national policy, with trained foresters, wildlife biologists, engineers and other professionals as managers.
The Department of Interior’s Division of Forestry initially managed the public forests, but the 1905 Forest Reserve Transfer Act passed during Roosevelt’s administration transferred control to the Department of Agriculture, and the U.S. Forest Service was created. The service’s first chief forester was B&C Club member Pinchot. Forest reserves went from 42 million acres to 172 million during the Roosevelt administration under Pinchot’s guidance and other activists in the B&C, the American Forestry Association and the Society of American Foresters. Roosevelt alone created 150 national forests between 1901—1909; today, 156 exist consisting of 224,966,052 acres under federal control (as of

9/30/92).

A postscript to Boone and Crockett’s role in the creation of the national forest system was its later campaign to preserve California’s remaining redwood forests between 1920—1925. The establishment of Sequoia National Park in 1890 did not protect the California redwood. Sixty thousand acres of vital redwood reserves were set aside in two California state parks in the 1920s by the efforts of Save the Redwood League, organized under the auspices of the Boone and Crockett Club by members Madison and DeForest Grant, John C. Merriam, Osborn, Mather and John C. Phillips.

THE NATIONAL REFUGE SYSTEM

The concept of game preserves was aristocratic and European in origin. Many exclusive, private Eastern sporting clubs maintained the tradition in America on a limited scale, primarily for deer. The vanishing species of the West prompted the Boone and Crockett Club, in 1895, through members Madison Grant and La Farge, to prompt New York state to create the New York Zoological Society by setting aside a 261-acre park in the Bronx, New York City (later know as the Bronx Zoo, and today the NYZS-The Wildlife Conservation Society). This park was to be a last refuge for remnant herds of vanishing North American big-game species in their native habitat for scientific investigation, publications, lectures and exhibitions. In 1906, the Club and the Zoological Society created the National Collection of Heads and Horns, which included a specimen of every game animal ever known to have existed in the world since the mastodon. The majority of the Zoological Society’s trustees were B&C members, and its first director was Club member William T. Hornaday, Ph.D.


Preservation of America’s vanishing big game, however, could not be reliant on a single gene pool in New York or private Eastern game preserves. As B&C was establishing the New York Zoological Society, it simultaneously funded an extensive scientific study of all the forest reserves, beginning with Arizona’s Black Mesa Forest Reserve by B&C members Alden Sampson and Dr. Ed W. Nelson, to examine the feasibility of a refuge concept on a national scale. The research provided by the Club led to Club member Sen. George C. Perkins of California to secure passage of the National Wildlife Refuge System Act of 1903, which established a wildlife refuge system of reservoirs, nurseries and breeding grounds for game and birds to preserve and propagate dwindling remnant herds and flocks. President Roosevelt immediately set aside Pelican Island in Florida as a federal bird reservation, the first unit in the National Wildlife Refuge System that eventually would encompass nearly 40 million acres. During his presidency, Roosevelt set aside 55 game and bird refuges. Today,

485 refuges exist.

Adjunct to the national refuge concept was broad-scale habitat enhancement. Under the Reclamation Act of 1902, the federal government constructed 30 dams, and reservoirs and irrigation channels to redistribute water throughout the West, encompassing 3 million acres by 1909, materially reorganizing much of the Western wildlife habitat Theodore Roosevelt’s prestige and presidency, supported by the research of the Boone and Crockett Club, overcame the fierce opposition to the 1902 Reclamation Act staged by ranchers, cowboys and miners whose political power ruled supreme in the West. The 1902 Act was introduced and guided through Congress by B&C member Sen. Francis G. Newlands of Nevada.

The buffalo became an early species to be protected under the refuge concept with the formation of the American Bison Society in 1905 by the New York Zoological Society and the Boone and Crockett Club under the direction of B&C member Dr. William T. Hornaday. Under its leadership, bison secured from remnant private herds were established and/or propagated initially at the Wichita National Forest and Game Preserve and Yellowstone and Wind Cave National Parks, with the establishment thereafter in 1907 of the National Bison Range in western Montana. The national refuge system concept established by B&C singularly saved this heroic symbol of the American West from extinction.

Another early Boone and Crockett refuge project led to the establishment of the National Elk Refuge near Jackson, Wyo. The adjacent Yellowstone National Park’s southern elk herd migrated annually into Jackson Hole for its winter habitat, creating a ready harvest for the elk’s canine teeth hunters who were slaughtering thousands without restriction by the early 1 900s, just for jewelry. The elk’s annual migration caused a myriad of problems for the area’s ranchers, both economic and ecological, as the elk denuded the area’s vegetation. B&C members Dr. E. W. Nelson, chief of the Bureau of Biological Survey and Col. Henry S. Graves, successor to Pinchot as chief of the U.S. Forest Service, utilized B&C’S Game Conservation Committee headed by Sheldon to devise an elk management system. It created the National Elk Refuge from adjacent public lands and purchased private ranch lands with funds from Club members with the support of the Benevolent Protection Order of the Elks (BPOE) and the Izaak Walton League of America. Sheldon later chaired the Elk Commission, created by President Calvin Coolidge’s 1926 Committee on Outdoor Recreation. which was initiated and run by Club members, including Frederic C. Walcott and John Bird Burnham. Their final report, The Conservation of Elk of Jackson Hole, Wyoming, led ultimately to the enlargement of Grand Teton National Park in 1929, whose new boundaries embraced much of the winter habitat of the Jackson Hole elk herd.

When a severe drought created the dust bowl era in the late 1920s, it necessitated the establishment of migratory waterfowl refuges. B&C members Dr. Lewis R Morris, Sheldon, Grinnell and others worked with the American Wild Fowlers (later known as Ducks Unlimited), to engineer federal legislation through Congress resulting in the Norbeck​-Anderson Migratory Bird Conservation Act of 1929 that established the federal waterfowl refuge system. To fund the program, B&C member Jay N. “Ding” Darling led the campaign to secure passage of the Migratory Bird Hunting Stamp Act of 1934, popularly known as the Federal Duck Stamp Program, proceeds of which pay for the waterfowl refuge system. Sen. Walcott introduced the bill and guided its passage. The conceptual ground work for the 1937 Pittman-Robertson Act—funding wildlife management and habitat restoration programs—was laid in these 1929 and 1934 acts.

Future expansion of the wildlife refuge system after the 1920s became more a matter of private funding, research, education and demonstration in addition to the political skills B&C had relied upon to achieve their objectives. B&C and the National Association of Audubon Societies established the Charles Sheldon Wildlife Refuge by privately purchasing 2,375 acres in northwestern Nevada in 1928 as a sanctuary and refuge for pronghorn. Club members T. Gilbert Pearson, Sheldon and Childs Frick guided the project. Thereafter, B&C member Ira N. Gabrielson prompted President Herbert Hoover to set aside 30,000 acres of adjacent public land in 1931, and by Executive Order, created the Charles Sheldon National Antelope Range. In 1936 Gabrielson again influenced President Franklin Roosevelt to issue a second Executive Order adding an adjacent 549,000 acres to the range, simultaneously creating the Hart Mountain Refuge in eastern Oregon. Together these ranges protect both the winter and summer habitat for the Tri-State Antelope Herd that reaches into neighboring California.

The last remaining remnant herd of Roosevelt’s elk in northern California’s Humboldt County caused B&C, guided by Club member DeForest Grant, to assemble and privately purchase 1,605 acres of primeval forest habitat in the late 1930s. The S700,000 purchase price was raised by B&C from its members and related conservation clubs. The new refuge was dedicated in 1948 and named the Madison Grant Forest and Elk Refuge in memory of DeForest Grant’s brother, another B&C member who died in 1937.

These examples of Boone and Crockett identifying critical problems and resolving them through research, education and demonstration and privately funding solutions when necessary until secondary help arrived, continued with the establishment of the Key Deer National Wildlife Refuge in 1957. As early as 1934, member Darling publicized through his political cartoons and caricatures the plight of the tiny Florida Key deer species. By 1950 only 100 survived. Boone and Crockett Club, together with three related conservation groups, funded a warden’s position for five years to protect the remnant herd, secured 1,000 acres of privately funded land for a refuge, and later transferred it to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service as a unit of the National Wildlife Refuge System. Typically, B&C got the credit because of the dedication of a few determined members, in this instance C.R "Pink” Gutermuth, then vice president of the Wildlife Management Institute, and Richard Borden, the executive director of the National Wildlife Federation.

Hunting AND Fishing LAWS

Integral to America’s emerging conservation program was a coordinated system of laws and enforcement that governed hunting and fishing. The engine that drove the conservation movement began with wildlife. As historian John F. Reiger noted, ". . . by the 1870s ‘game laws’—as all wildlife regulations were called—had proliferated into a tangled mass of confusing and often contradictory statutes.” Many sportsmen in this country lived ". . . . by a heritage of opposition to any restraint on ‘freedom,’ particularly that vestige of Old World tyranny, the game law.” Private Eastern sporting clubs that maintained game preserves had their rules governing hunting and fishing based on the English and European tradition from which a sportsmen’s code of ethical conduct developed to insure an indefinite supply of game and fish for future generations. This sportsmen’s code was incorporated in the Boone and Crockett Club’s December 1887 Constitution under the concept of Fair Chase. Article V of the Constitution provides, “The term fair chase shall not be held to include killing bear or cougar in traps, or crusting moose, elk or deer in deep snow, or calling, jacking, or killing them from a boat while swimming, or any method other than fair stalking or still hunting.” The term “Fair Chase” was later extended to include restrictions on the use of vehicles, airplanes and radios while hunting.
Boone and Crockett Club members carried out a campaign in New York during the end of the 1890s to end the practice of killing deer in the waters of the Adirondacks. As Grinnell described this practice in his 1910 history of the Club:

“It was then the custom to put hounds upon the track of deer and drive them until they took to the lakes in the effort to throw off the hounds. When this took place, men rowed up to the animal and blew out its brains or cut its throat with a knife, or beat it to death with a club.”

In 1897 the New York legislature, through the persistence of the Boone and Crockett Club, finally enacted a law ending the use of dogs and hounding at any time, water-killing of deer, fire hunting, (i.e., shooting animals at night stunned by the light of a torch), and using traps or salt licks.

During this same decade, Club members had lobbied Congress to enact hunting and fishing regulations for all federal lands. Grinnell, editor and publisher of the weekly sporting periodical, Forest & Stream, campaigned vigorously for uniform legislation and a system of enforcement to control commercial meat, feather and hide hunters. Earlier in 1886, Grinnell founded the Audubon Society in protest to the commercial plume hunters who supplied the millinery trade, and the pigeon hunters who ultimately caused the extinction of the passenger pigeon. Efforts of the Club and Grinnell’s mouthpiece finally mobilized sufficient popular support to encourage Congress to enact the Game and Wild Bird Preservation and Disposition Act of 1900, popularly known as the Lacey Act of 1900. illegally killing animals beyond the scope of established regulations controlling age, sex, seasons and bag limits was forbidden, except to protect human life or property, and all interstate traffic in illegally killed wildlife (game, birds and fish), dead or alive, was forbidden.

Club member and biologist T. Gilbert Pearson provided Congress with the scientific justification for the law to overcome the commercial special interests and railroad lobbies that had prevented similar legislation for three decades, and Club member John F. Lacey, a U.S. Congressman, engineered the legislation following earlier attempts led by B&C member Sen. George G. Vest This became the cornerstone for federal protection of wildlife and gave rise to all the ensuing uniform state game and fish laws, the first enacted in North Carolina in 1903, with revenues earmarked to fund the required law enforcement essential to implementing the intent of the law. Later in the 1 930s. to reflect the then-emerging science of wildlife management, a model wildlife administration law known as the Model Game Law and adopted by most states was drafted by B&C member Aldo Leopold.

Commercial slaughtering of Alaska’s game to feed its hungry gold miners next focused the Club on securing congressional enactment of the Alaskan Game Law of l 902 and 1908. Club members’ knowledge of the Alaskan environment, through scientific and exploratory expeditions throughout Alaska from the mi&1870s, was the key to educating congres​sional leaders and the American public in the rationale for this law. These early explorers, in addition to Sheldon and Grinnell, included Dr. Joseph Grinnell, Madison Grant, Gen. Henry T. Allen, Dr. E. W Nelson and Charles H. Townsend.

Steps to supplement these early laws by protecting migratory birds began in 1904 with B&C member George Shiras III, congressman from Pennsylvania. It took Shiras and the Club’s Game Preservation Committee until 1913, however, to assemble sufficient popular and political support to place migratory birds under federal jurisdiction. The law was ratified and fully implemented with the 1918 “Treaty Between the United States and Great Britain for the Protection of Migratory Birds in the United States and Canada.”

With these game laws and regulations, together with enforcement to implement them, linked with a continuous and progressive method of systematic management and government of the nations’ parks, forests and refuges, the foundation of the American conservation movement was laid by the early 1920s, due in large measure to the Boone and Crockett Club members quietly acting individually and collectively on a national scale under the aegis of the Club. The movement, however, lacked a name, a conceptual philosophy, scientific framework linking its interrelated parts, and effective coordination between all levels of government from the township to the federal level

The NATIONAL Conservation Movement

With the creation of Yellowstone Park, Congress decreed the establishment of “a tract of land as a public park or pleasuring-ground for the benefit and enjoyment of the people.” The park concept was English and continental in origin, based on game preserves or parks set aside for aristocratic sportsmen; America’s masses had difficulty relating to the concept. No concept of managing the park; or administrative structure, was established by Congress to govern the use of Yellowstone. Its early superintendents sat in Washington reviewing field reports sent East. For a time, the commanding officer of the U.S. Calvary unit assigned to protect Yellowstone acted as its superintendent. Yellowstone in the 1880s was called the “Yellowstone Valley Hunting Club” by the commercial hunting guides for wealthy Eastern and European trophy hunters. Some saw the early national parks as sanctuaries for wildlife; the few tourists that managed to visit the parks saw them as museums of natural wonder from which to collect geologic souvenirs. The commercial timber merchants known as “tree skinners,” hide and meat hunters and railroad barons saw them as their private reserves from which they could profitably harvest at will A similar lack of understanding existed when timber reserves were set aside and the national forest system was created in 1891. Wildlife refuges met a similar fate. Why else would Congress establish them if not purely for utilitarian purposes? The Judeo-Christian tradition of man’s sanctified dominion over nature, and a weak federal government with a laissez-faire economic order, encouraged irresponsible use of America’s natural resources. 

America’s first pioneer in timber husbandry was a German, Bernhard E. Fernow, who predated the first Chief Forester Pinchot by a decade as chief of the division of forestry of the Department of Agriculture. Fernow brought to this country an understanding of forestry management as practiced in Europe, but had little success in getting the federal government to implement his policies. The extremes in interpretation of how our natural resources should be used were represented by John Wesley Powell or John Muir’s “preservationist” philosophy of total abstinence in the use of these resources, and Grinnell or Pinchot’s “conservationist” philosophy of husbanding our resources through systematic management to make them last indefinitely. The establishment of a national policy in 1897 for sustained multiple use of our forests for timber harvesting, mineral extraction. wildlife protection and propagation, and recreation was simply a congressional policy few people understood, notably the Congress and the federal government. The Lacey Act of 1900, which provided the cornerstone for all uniform federal and state fish and game laws, and the ensuing law enforcement programs, however, began to bring direction and clarity to the awakening consciousness of Americans that its natural resources were finite. The rudiments of a national conservation program were in place by the beginning of the 20th century, albeit lacking a name and the cohesive management framework for the inter-relationship of its parts. As B&C historian James B. Trefethen noted in retrospect “There had been progress, but it was like that of a man moving a wagon with the wheels removed and the team unhitched. Before there could be significant unified forward movement, someone had to put the parts together and gather up the reins. Theodore Roosevelt did that for conservation. Few if any men of his time were better equipped for the task.”

Grinnell first used the word “conservation” in 1884 in his Forest & Stream weekly. First Chief Forester Pinchot later introduced the term in attempting to find a middle ground between “protection” and “preservation” for President Roosevelt. The president adopted it as the keynote of his administration, and used it as the theme for the White House Conference of Governors in 1908. Roosevelt and Pinchot used the Conference of Governors to force the states to join the federal government in managing their respective natural resources. Following the conference, Roosevelt created the National Conservation Commission with Pinchot as chairman to find cooperative methods to join natural resource management at the state and federal levels. The National Conservation Association evolved in 1909; 15,000 delegates attended its second national conference in 1910. The Roosevelt administration provided the catalyst and momentum the nation needed to launch the conservation movement, gathering its fragmented parts into a unified philosophy and framework known today as conservation. Roosevelt’s brain trust—engineers and colleagues—were primarily fellow members of the Boone and Crockett Club.

With the maturation of the industrial revolution and the advent of the automobile in 1910, American’s mobility, leisure time and income to buy reliable and efficient rifles and shotguns placed greater emphasis on the need to effectively manage wildlife to achieve a sustainable harvest; this gave rise to the emergence of the concept of scientific wildlife management. A seminal event in the development of this science occurred in Arizona. The Grand Canyon National Game Reserve of the Kaibab Plateau, which afforded protection to mule deer since 1906, witnessed the destruction of habitat by the increasing deer population in the early 1 920s, resulting in a massive die-off of tens of thousands of mule deer. Up to the beginning of the 1920s, conservationists assumed restoring wildlife was simple; create parks. forests and refuges and restrict hunting. The Kaibab tragedy proved blanket protection didn’t work.
B&C member Leopold joined the U.S. Forest Service after graduating from Yale’s School of Forestry in 1909, and was assigned to Kaibab National Forest. Leopold was a keen observer”. . of the broad spectrum of inter-relationships of animals to plant communities, of plant communities to climate and soil chemistry, of predators to prey. and, above all, of human influences to natural ecosystems.” Based on his experiences, Leopold and colleagues began to formulate flexible scientific management polices for wildlife, land and man’s use. Wildlife could no longer be dealt with in a vacuum as Grinnell predicted in the late 1 800s. The natural resources polices developed to achieve ecological balance over the ensuing decade of the 1920s became the tenets of modern-day conservation. Implementation, however, was another matter.

The Boone and Crockett Club played an instrumental role in the implementation and coordination of the emerging management policies at the federal, state and local levels. The Club published much of the emerging literature directed at establishing natural resource management principles far beyond wildlife management. These included flora and fauna, pollution and drainage, outdoor recreation, parks and playgrounds, citizenship values, educational programs. international relationships, surveys of the nation’s natural resources, etc. Club members Theodore Roosevelt, Jr., Sheldon, Phillips, John Burnham, Pearson and others succeeded in getting President Calvin Coolidge to establish the President’s Conference on Outdoor Recreation, which convened annually between 1924—1929. It lead to the establishment of a national recreation policy governing America’s expanding population and their demands on the land for outdoor recreation. The policy was another crucial step in achieving coordinated resource management at all levels.

B&C member Darling during the decade of the 1930s recognized the need to establish a national central coordinating organization for the multitude of local, county and state wildlife organizations. His efforts and those of fellow B&C colleagues Sen. Frederic C. Walcott, Ira N. Gabrielson and Gutermuth, led to creation of the Cooperative Wildlife Research Unit program at 10 land-grant colleges, which trained professional natural resource managers for the American Wildlife Institute, North American Wildlife Foundation, National Wildlife Federation and the 1935 North American Wildlife Conference. Now known as the North American Wildlife and Natural Resource Conference, it has been sponsored annually since 1966 by the Wildlife Management Institute (successor to the earlier American Wildlife Institute).

Forging cooperation and coordination of local, state and federal wildlife management policies led to the adoption of the 1937 Pittman-Robertson Federal Aid in Wildlife Act. Under this Act, state wildlife habitat restoration programs were financed from the sale of hunting licenses and from the federal excise tax imposed on the sale of all firearms and ammunition, and later archery equipment, fishing rods and tackle. During the initial decade of the Pittman-Robertson Act programs (1938—1948), 38 states acquired approximately 900,000 acres of refuges and wildlife management areas for habitat restoration. Statistical surveys before and after this decade show remarkable increases throughout the country in populations of white and blacktail deer, bear, elk, bighorn and desert sheep, goats, moose. pronghorn, beaver and wild turkey. The legislative model for Pittman-Robertson was the 1929 Migratory Bird Act establishing waterfowl refuges and the 1934 Federal Duck Stamp Act, which finances them, inspired by Darling, Grinnell and their B&C colleagues.

The Boone and Crockett Club’s achievements from its inception in 1887 to 1920 was one of gathering up the cornerstones; i.e., establishing the parks, forests, refuges and laws, while the period of 1920—1940 was characterized as the construction era, putting the pieces together, giving definition to the  meaning of conservation, and cementing them with a scientific framework and philosophy of natural resource and wildlife management from the local to the national level, precursors to today’s micro and macro ecosystem management on a national and international scale.

LEADERSHIP BY

The depression years of the 1930s and the post World War II era marked a significant change in how the Club functioned nationally. During its first half century, the Club properly claimed sole credit for establishing the components of the American conservation system. Most of the country’s early conservation leaders were Club members. As the nation’s population grew, however, related conservation organizations were formed, many the progeny of B&C but focused on single issues and/or species. Often the solutions were more vexing and complex than the problems themselves. The political realities now required a coalition approach to solving problems, and B&C worked in conjunction with and through its active members who were principal leaders, participants and founders of related conservation organizations, many with large national memberships, and held key posts in successive presidential administrations.

The Boone and Crockett Club chose to remain small with the membership limited to 100; moreover, it became a forum or focus group, with participation of the heads of each of the principal 25 leading conservation groups and all major U.S. government agencies. B&C facilitated diverse interests and provided a catalyst for ideas, issues and programs as a coalition organization of America’s conservation leadership.

B&C members founded and headed the National Wildlife Federation and the Wildlife Management Institute, which annually sponsors the North American Wildlife and Natural Resources Conference. The first director of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service formed in 1940 was B&C member Ira N. Gabrielson. who succeeded Darling as chief of the Bureau of Biological Survey. Darling was the first president of the National Wildlife Federation in 1935. In 1946, Gabrielson became the first president of the newly formed Wildlife Management Institute, successor to the public activities of the American Wildlife Institute, which was converted into the North American Wildlife Foundation headed by B&C member Sen. Walcott. Gutermuth became vice president of the Wildlife Management Institute and secretary of the North American Wildlife Foundation. During this same period, the National Audubon Society headed by B&C’s John H. Baker was re-energized to its pre World War II strength when it was headed by T. Gilbert Pearson. These groups united in coalition with Ducks Unlimited to restore and protect the duck-breeding marshes of Canada, a project privately funded by coalition members.

Gutermuth was instrumental in organizing the Natural Resources Council of America in 1946, which became an important medium for inter-organizational cooperation advancing conservation programs on a national scale. The broad-based support of this group permitted a show of strength on legislative matters and administrative policy for or against proposed measures. In the early 1950s, when the Bureau of Reclamation sought to invade Dinosaur National Monument with a dam flooding 100 miles of scenic canyons, the Natural Resources Council mustered national support based on scientific data and defeated the plan. They recalled the destruction of the scenic Hetch Hetchy Valley on the Tuolumne River in Yosemite National Park, dammed up in 1913 to provide power and water to San Francisco. Alternate dam sites were located, and no attempt has been made since to invade the National Park System.

Hard, scientific research on diverse issues became part of the arsenal afforded by a coalition approach to conservation challenges, and the Boone and Crockett Club in the post​war era provided the leadership. B&C member Dr. Durward L. Allen of Purdue University began an intensive 30-year study, funded in large part by B&C, of the timber wolf-moose relationship on Isle Royale National Park in Michigan’s Upper Peninsula. The results of that study became the definitive authority on this predator-prey relationship and predator management and restoration of the Eastern timber wolf removing it from the endangered status and changing public perceptions of the wolf.

B&C led the funding of member Maurice G. Hornocker’s studies of cougars. It provided seed money in the early 1960s for John and Frank Craighead’s study of the grizzly bears in Yellowstone National Park. The Club undertook a significant study of the proposed Ramparts Dam on the upper Yukon River in Alaska, its economic and ecological impact on the native peoples. and the wildlife they needed for survival. This project was defeated, thus preserving valuable wildlife habitat and the native’s way of life. For a list of scientific studies, see the accompanying chapter by Dr. William C. MacCarty III, “Grants-k-Aid: A History and Summary.” Publication of monographs, research studies and findings by B&C followed many of the funded projects. Funding of research projects either in total, or as the main sponsor, put B&C in a leading role following World War II as a facilitator of wildlife research designed to improve game and habitat management techniques. Lead funding by B&C became a validation of a project’s integrity and significance, and provided impetus for other conservation organizations and foundations to complete the required sponsorship.

The research propensity of the Boone and Crockett Club led to the sponsorship of two single species symposiums, one on wild sheep in 1974 and one on the black bear in 1977, each followed by a publication of the presented papers, thus adding to the Club’s extensive list of published material. (For a complete list of all publications of the Boone and Crockett Club, see the chapter by Theodore J. Holsten, Jr., “Books of the Boone and Crockett Club.”)

Boone and Crockett’s interest in primary and applied research resulted in its 1984 acquisition of a 6,000-acre ranch in northern Montana at the edge of the Bob Marshall Wilderness. The ranch comprises critical winter habitat for elk, mule and whitetail deer, cougar. coyote and grizzly bear. The acquisition of the ranch concluded a long search initiated in 1982 by then B&C President Jack Parker, vice chairman of General Electric, and completed by his successor, William I. Spencer, president of Citicorp/Citibank, to mark the Club’s approaching centennial in 1987: it was selected from 29 separate projects in 11 states nominated by a Club committee consisting of Chairman Daniel Poole, president of the Wildlife Management Institute; Robert Robel, professor of biology at Kansas State University. and Ladd Gordon, director of the New Mexico Department of Game and Fish. The final selection was made after an extensive review of the nominations by Spencer and B&C member John W. Hanes, Jr. Club Treasurer Sherman Gray beaded the difficult task of fund raising after Hanes closed the transaction, with the close participation of Spencer and Hanes.
Renamed the Theodore Roosevelt Memorial Ranch, this facility provides a research station for scientific analysis of how domestic livestock and wildlife interrelate when competing for common habitat, how the land is best managed to support competing objectives, what vegetation best supports these uses, etc., age-old issues Western livestock growers have been struggling with for over a century. The broad research focus will also include changing social and land-use patterns driven by populations, demographics, wildlife and other economic forces, the future of family ranches, non-resident land ownership and subdivisions for second homes all of which are affecting the front range of the Rocky Mountains dramatically.

To facilitate the research, the Club established an endowed professorship of wildlife research at the University of Montana. The professorship was structured to parallel the Cooperative Wildlife Research Units coordinated by the state’s fish and game department, US. Fish and Wildlife Service and the University. Management of the ranch’s agricultural operations were segregated from the research conducted under the direction of the B&C professor and his coordinating and policy committee. After a national search, Hal Sal​wasser, Ph.D., director of New Perspectives and Ecosystems Management at the US. Forest Service headquarters in Washington. D.C., was selected to occupy this endowed chair. The agreement between the Club and the University prepared by Daniel Poole defined the ranch project as “a research, education and demonstration project of the Boone and Crockett Club” with the overlay of the research professorship program. The Club’s vision for these programs, and the contemporary issues and challenges to the conservation leadership of America, are outlined in Salwasser’s chapter, “The Future of Wildlife:

Marshalling a Strategy for Sustainability.” The bold harbinger of the TRM Ranch and professorship projects clearly define the Club’s continuing commitment to establish living legacies to conservation, and stand as testaments to the Club’s centennial reaffirmation of its traditional role in America of leadership by example.

Records, HEADS AND HORNS

The era following World War II brought renewed interest to outdoor recreation, and especially big-game trophy hunting. Fascination with heads and horns can be traced to early man, who preserved and displayed in one form or another big-game quarry. Prehistoric man’s pictographs and petroglyphs decorated their caves with animals. Mounted heads and horns preserved the spirit and vitality of man and animal in the hunt, and spoke of the primeval contest between man and the environment as represented by the quarry.

B&C’s interest in trophy heads can be traced to 1891 to the 1st Annual Sportsmen s Exposition in New York City when Roosevelt, Grinnell and Archibald Rogers served as competition judges. In 1906, William T. Hornaday’s collection of heads and horns of more than 100 specimens became the nucleus of the National Collection of Heads and Horns (NCHH). B&C member James L. Clark, a taxidermist earlier in his career, developed a system of scoring trophies for his clients following the tradition of Rowland Ward Ltd.’s initial 1892 Records of Big Game, which contained only trophy species taken by hunters using their company’s taxidermy services. Clark’s measurement system provided the basis for the 1932 Records of North American Big Game, published by B&C’s Heads and Horns Committee (1930—1932) and chaired by Prentiss N. Gray under the auspices of the National Collection of Heads and Horns and the New York Zoological Society. The measurement system was initially conceived and the book published to record perceived vanishing North American big-game trophies. The 1932 book (and its 1939 successor), were richly illustrated by B&C member and artist Carl Rungius.

The 1932 records book, limited to 500 copies, was popular and controversial, precipitating much argument and criticism over the scoring system and formulae used. Accordingly, Chairman Gray of the Heads and Horns Committee was asked to prepare a more comprehensive treatment of the subject establishing a system of measurement that could secure broad approval. His untimely death prevented this, and the sequel. 1939 North American Big Game, was published by B&C’s Records of North American Big Game Committee. created in 1935 with the cooperation of the National Collection of Heads and Horns, the New York Zoological Society and the American Museum of Natural History. It adhered to the measurement method for scoring trophies Gray adopted for the 1932 records book, thus perpetuating the agitation among sportsmen for a universally acceptable formulae of measurement and tabulation, which finally evolved in 1950.

A solution to the two-decade-long measurement controversy was a product of the dogged efforts of B&C members James L. Clark, Samuel B. Webb. Harold E. Anthony, Milford Baker and Frederick K. Barbour. and non-members, notably Grancel Fitz. At the Club’s annual meeting in December 1950, a new scoring system for trophy measurement was adopted that remains relatively intact today. The system was copyrighted and published by B&C in its 1952 Records of North American Big Game. Thereafter, the Club published official score charts used to measure 35 separate categories of North American big game, which became the typical sportsmen’s or sportswomen’s introduction to the Boone and Crockett Club, thus perpetuating the misconception that the Boone and Crockett only keeps the records.

Since 1932 all of the records books have included chapters emphasizing a hunter becoming intimately familiar with a quarry’s physiology, behavior and habitat to better judge animals of superior quality. Game management and conservation techniques for habitat enhancement required to achieve superior animals have been a continuing focus of the records books, plus on-going discussions of the roles of Fair Chase and hunting ethics afield that promote the 19th century sportsmen’s code. Successive records books have provided the strongest single vehicle available to B&C to communicate the ethics and principles of Fair Chase to the American hunter, and given the professional game management and scientific community an invaluable data base to measure animal population trends (from which game seasons and bag limits are set), genetics, nutrition, age and habitat characteristics unavailable elsewhere in the world.
To encourage hunters to submit their trophies for measurement and to ensure the Club’s records books were accurate and up-to-date, Club President Archibald B. Roosevelt (Theodore Roosevelt’s son) began a series of public big-game competitions and awards programs recognizing trophy heads as determined by the Club’s new measurement criteria. These were held in 1947 through 1951; thereafter, on a two-year interval for seven competitions and since 1970 on a three-year basis, totaling 21. After 1973 and through 1980, the competitions became known as “The North American Big Game Awards Program”

(NABGAP).

The Club maintained the score charts and trophy records from the 1930s forward through their standing Records of North American Big-Game Committee. To manage the growing expense and burden of proper records keeping and scoring by professional measurers, and to extend B&C’s outreach to more sportsmen, B&C on June 30. 1973, associated its records-keeping program with the NRA, who co-sponsored it with B&C. When the NRA refused to provide adequate staff support to manage the program, B&C dissolved the affiliation on Dec. 31, 1980. Thereafter, the Club’s Records Committee reassumed the task, using a director of Big Game Records within the Club’s administrative offices, initially B&C member Wm. H. Nesbitt, and currently member Jack Reneau.

During the 1973—80 period, when NRA co-sponsored the records-keeping program with B&C. a four-day measurer’s workshop was initiated to begin formalized training of approved official B&C trophy measurers. Currently, an average of three workshops are sponsored annually by the Club. Workshops have provided B&C another vehicle of continuing education to reaffirm the principles of the sportsmen’s code, ethical hunting and Fair Chase, prompting greater scrutiny of entries and a higher level of detection of fraudulent entries.

When the National Collection of Heads and Horns in New York was on the verge of being dissembled and destroyed in 1977, B&C became involved in seeking title to the collection to preserve its integrity as the single largest collection of all game species in the world (238 specimens). After much discussion with the director and trustees of the Bronx Zoo (New York Zoological Society) and the American Museum of Natural History, led principally by Club member Webb. B&C succeeded to ownership of the specimens from the National Collection, which included the prized Chadwick ram. The collection was separated into two collections, North American species (34 specimens) and species of the other continents (198 specimens); title to the latter 198 specimens were conveyed to Safari Club International for its International Wildlife Museum in Tucson, Ariz., and the North American collection was moved to the NRA museum in Washington, D.C.. and put on public display in May 1978 for the first time in 20 years. (See “History of the National Collection of Heads and Horns” in the I 981 edition of Records of North American Big Game, and the related chapter herein by J. J. McBride, “The National Collection of Heads and Horns.”) In November 1981, the NCHH was permanently displayed at the Buffalo Bill Historical Center in Cody, Wyo. Upgraded annually with the newest record heads and horns, the collection represents a current snapshot of the vitality of North America’s big-game species.

The NCHH was established in 1906 by Club member William T. Hornaday to preserve the best specimens of the vanishing big-game species of the world before they became extinct. Today the NCHH, with its display of current record heads, is a testament to B&C’s conservation efforts during the 20th century, demonstrating that these combined programs produce sustainable, high-quality wildlife populations. The NCHH is no longer a memorial of the past, but rather a dynamic testament of B&C’s 20th century legacy of conservation achievements and continuing stewardship of today’s natural resources. Today it stands as a prophetic tribute to the Club’s early focus recorded by Grinnell in 1910, four years after the NCHH was established: “It thus appears that since its establishment in 1888, the purposes and activities of the Boone and Crockett Club have wholly changed—it might be said, have been reversed. Beginning as a club of riflemen, apparently concerned only with their own recreation, it early discovered that more important work was to be done in the field of protection than in that of destruction.”

Stewards OF THE LAND

In contemplating the legacy of achievement of the Boone and Crockett Club over the last century, you are reminded of its individual members and their visionary perspectives. Bound together by their love and respect for wildlife and nature born from their sporting tradition afield, their collective force drew to the Club’s membership roster most of the early leaders who blazed the trail of the conservation movement. Their contributions and skills were varied. Theodore Roosevelt’s political abilities and presidency brought to the Club a vehicle for achievement unmatched by any organization this century.

The Club’s unofficial mouthpiece. Forest & Stream, was owned and edited by Grinnell from 1880 to 1911. As a leading weekly periodical, Grinnell used it freely to educate the public and the politicians of the critical issues demanding attention to conserve the nation’s dwindling natural resources. Grinnell’s early explorations of the West began in 1870. with O.C. Marsh’s geologic and paleontologic expedition. He accompanied the 7th Cavalry’s George A. Custer on his 1874 exploration of the Black Hills of the Dakotas, and participated in Capt. William Ludlow’s 1875 reconnaissance of Yellowstone for the Army’s Corps of Engineers. The historical, first-hand perspectives Grinnell developed of the arcadian West before its exploitation for any resource of commercial value proved invaluable to the Boone and Crockett Club, as did B&C member and artist Albert Bierstadt’s monumental paintings of the mythical and romantic West.

Pinchot’s comprehension of forest husbandry, and his political and administrative skills as first chief of the U.S. Forest Service, helped Roosevelt achieve much of the record written during his presidency. Other key Club members instrumental in successive early presidential administrations included Sens. Thomas B. Carter, George Vest, George C. Perkins and Frederic C. Walcott, Congressmen John F. Lacey, W. E. Humphrey, John W. Weeks and George Shiras III; Secretaries of the Interior Lucius Q.C. Lamar, John W. Noble and Carl Schurtz jurist William Hallett Phillips; Chief of the US. Geological Service Arnold Hague followed by Charles D. Walcott, C. Hart Merriam, T. S. Palmer and Ed E. Nelson, all chiefs of the U.S. Bureau of Biological Survey Col. Henry S. Graves, who followed Pinchot as chief of the U.S. Forest Service; and Stephen T. Mather, first director to the National Park Service, followed by Horace M. Albright.
Explorers and naturalists like Raphael Pumpilly and Charles Sheldon defined the boundaries for Glacier (1910) and Mt. McKinley (1917) National Parks, while Gen. Phillip Sheridan’s cavalry earlier provided the first armed protection of Yellowstone, prior to its enlargement in 1891 and 1894 by legislation that established our national park and forest systems engineered through Congress by Phillips, Lamar, Noble, Hague, Vest and Lacey referenced above. The 1900 Lacey Act became the cornerstone for all state fish and game laws. Madison Grant and C. Grant La Farge created the New York Zoological Society (1895), while William T. Hornaday, its first director and Club member, established the National Collection of Heads and Horns (1906). Madison and DeForest Grant and Henry Fairfield Osborn established the Save the Redwoods League (1917). As the Club matured, Leopold’s research and writings provided the philosophy and framework for scientific wildlife management and the tenets of conservation of our natural resources.

Jay N. “Ding” Darling’s political influence led the way in coordinating wildlife management of local, state and federal governments on a national scale through a variety of organizations following his tenure as chief of the Bureau of Biological Survey. Darling’s inspiration and vision lead directly or indirectly to the creation of the Cooperative Wildlife Research Unit Program, the American Wildlife Institute, the North American Wildlife Foundation, the National Wildlife Federation, the Wildlife Management Institute and the annual North American Wildlife and Natural Resources Conference. Each of these was founded or headed by Darling or other Club members.

Club member Laurance S. Rockefeller chaired the Eisenhower Administration’s 1958 Outdoor Recreation Resources Review Committee, the reports and recommendations of which led directly to the creation of a National Wilderness System in 1964 establish​ing 36 primitive areas and the corollary 1966 Wild and Scenic Rivers Act. Rockefeller served on President Johnson’s 1966 Council on Recreation and National Beauty, the report of which became a major influence in reshaping and broadening national conservation policy. Secretary of Interior Stewart L. Udall, also a Club member, created the Special Advisory Board on Wildlife Management in 1962. The Board was chaired by Club member A. Starker Leopold, Ph.D. (Aldo Leopold’s son), and included B&C members Clarence Cottam, Ph.D., director of the Welder Wildlife Foundation, Zoology Professor Ian McTaggert Cowan of the University of British Columbia, and Ira N. Gabrielson, then president of the Wildlife Management Institute. Its three major studies and recom​mendations had a national impact on improving the management of our national parks (especially on fire suppression policy) and their wildlife, management of the National Wildlife Refuge System, and on predator and rodent control. The latter report led Interior Secretary Udall to establish the Division of Wildlife Services within the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service headed by B&C member Jack Berryman. When the President’s Council on Environmental Quality created the Cain Commission in 1971 to study predator control, it included B&C members A. Starker Leopold, Durward L. Allen and Maurice G. Homocker; their recommendations led to prohibiting the use of all chemical poisons (notably DDT) on all public lands, and all but eliminated the wasteful bounty system on predators like the wolf, coyote and fox, with hawks, owls and cougars reclassified into a protected status.

The Club’s current membership roster includes a variety of individuals who have served in key national positions that directly impact the conservation of America’s wildlife and other natural resources management. A few notable examples not previously mentioned include Russell E. Train, chairman of the World Wildlife Fund, former Under Secretary of Interior, first director of the Environmental Protection Agency, and chairman of the President’s Council on Environmental Quality: S. Dillon Ripley II, secretary emeritus of the Smithsonian Institution; George B. Hartzog, Jr., former chief of the National Park Service; John S. Gottschalk and Lynn A. Greenwalt, both past directors of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service: Ralph M. Peterson. former chief of the U.S. Forest Service and now executive vice president of the International Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies following member Jack Berryman’s retirement; Lawrence R. Jahn. retired president of the Wildlife Management Institute following Daniel Poole; and incumbent Institute President Rollin D. Sparrowe; and Nathaniel Reed, assistant secretary of the Interior for Fish, Wildlife and Parks.

Historical and current national figures not mentioned earlier have added their unique contributions and color to the Club such as Gen. Wm. Tecumseh Sherman; Lt. Gen. Richard K. Mellon; Lt. Gen. Marshall S. Carter: Gen. Matthew B. Ridgeway; Gen. James H. Doolittle; aviation pioneer Robert C. Reeve: archeologist Ray Chapman Andrews; paleontologist Carl E. Akeley; Colonels William D. Pickett and William E. Colby; Maj. Gen. Adoiphus W. Greeley: Henry Cabot Lodge; artists A. Phimister Proctor Carl Rungius, Guy Coheleach and Bob Kuhn: industrialist J. Pierpont Morgan, Jr.; mountaineer Bradford Washington; and manufacturing legends John M. Olin and Wil​liam B. Ruger.

These names are representative of the Boone and Crockett Club’s members and their contributions over the last century. They worked individually, as special teams or as a united group under the Club’s aegis. The Club’s forum provided them with a collective energy. It tested their ideas, strengthened their resolve and provided supportive colleagues to launch their campaigns and engineer them through legislative bodies. It provided funding for exploration and research, and a publication’s ability for dissemination of their thoughts. The Club became a catalyst and provided synergy for its members’ ideas and programs and gave rise to the formation of many progeny organizations, focused on single conservation issues and/or species that thereafter flourished independently. The Club worked in conjunction with and through its active members who were principal founders and leaders of these related conservation organizations, many funded initially by the Boone and Crockett Club, such as the Camp Fire Club of America started by Karl T. Frederick and others in 1897.

The Club’s ranks from both the public and private sectors, foundations, universities, etc., have consistently included leading public and national figures, chieftains of American business and industry, academics and professionals, artists, writers and celebrities, all committed to the Club’s quiet but continuing leadership role in conservation. George Bird Grinnell’s characterization of the Club in his 1910 history of the Boone and Crockett Club has remained true throughout the 20th century:

“It has not been the Club’s practice to announce its purposes, nor to glory in what it has accomplished, but rather to move steadfastly forward, striving constantly to do whatever fell within its province which would tend to promote the country’s welfare. It would have been natural and easy for the Club to have confined its activities to meetings at intervals to dine, and discuss abuses and dangers, and to pass stirring resolutions about them. Instead of this, it has had a small body of intelligent men, scattered all over the country, working individually and constantly in behalf of things once laughed at or unknown, but now as familiar to the public mind as household words. The results accomplished by the Boone and Crockett Club bear testimony to the alertness and energy of its members, and to the success of the methods which they have pursued.”

The founding principles of the Boone and Crockett Club were written by Theodore Roosevelt and his stout-hearted companions, and have sustained its members through successive generations fraught with challenge. It is on these founding principles and traditional values that a noble legacy of achievement and accomplishment has been written over the 20th century by men embolden to wrought change on the North American con​tinent in what became the American conservation movement. Not only do the current members inherit this legacy, but also the honored mantle of responsibility to continue writing history. As Theodore Roosevelt said in his twilight years. after a life of strenuous public service:

“We are faced with our destiny and we must meet it with a high resolute courage. For us is the life of action, of strenuous performance of duty; let us live in the harness, striving mightily; let us rather run the risk of wearing than rusting out.”

For further reading on the history of the Boone and Crockett Club, please refer to the following sources:

A History of the Boone and Crockett Club by George Bird Grinnell (1910)

Hunting at High Altitudes by George Bird Grinnell (1913)

A History of the Boone and Crockett Club by William G. Sheldon (unpublished in 1954; manuscript on file at the University of Montana, Boone and Crockett Club archives)

Crusade for Wildlife by James B. Trefethen (1961)

An American Crusade for Wildlife by James B. Trefethen (1975)

American Sportsmen and the Origins of Conservation by John F. Reiger (1975)

The Passing of the Great West: Selected Papers of George Bird Grinnell edited by John F. Reiger (1985)

Records of North American Big Game, 9th edition. “Trail Blazers in Conservation: The Boone and Crockett Club’s First Century” by George B. Ward and Richard E. McCabe (1988)

Grinnell's Glacier: George Bird Grinnell and Glacier National Park by Gerald A. Diettert

(1992)
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